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Moscow ‘is neither Europe nor Asia: it is Russia – and it is Russia’s heart.’ Marquis de Custine, 1839.


St Petersburg: a traveller’s companion, published in 1981, was selected and edited on principles which have again been applied to the tumultuous, often sanguinary, and always enthralling life of Moscow, synonymous for most of her history with the amazing growth of the Muscovite Tsardom. It is an anthology that seeks to describe the literary and historical perspectives of the city, and is intended to complement rather than replace the excellent guide-books currently available. The aim is to let Moscow speak for herself through the voices of participants, both native and foreign, in her life, or, in default of this, through the liveliest authority on the period. Due place has been given to literature, whether poems, ballads, or novels, so often in Russian history the only authentic incarnations of vox populi; while there are echoes of vox dei in the witness of such writers of genius as Pushkin, Lermontov and Herzen. The material is arranged by place and chronologically, and a section on Moscow manners and morals seeks to capture the ‘physiology’ (as Balzac would have called it) of the city. Napoleon’s capture of Moscow and the great fire of 1812 merit a special section.


The difficult decision has been taken, as in St Petersburg, to conclude the story in 1918, with the triumph of the Soviet State, and in Moscow’s case, the arrival of Lenin in the Kremlin. To cover his reign, and its aftermath – the tortured days of the thirties; the desperate struggle for the city in the Second World War, when Nazi tanks were at its gates; the death of Stalin; the fall and arrest of Beria, and the Kruschev ‘thaw’; the hundred Committees and Ministries – would demand and justify a further volume.


The interest of the present volume for the traveller, it is hoped, lies in the discovery of how much of the legacy of medieval and Imperial Muscovy survives today, both on the ground and in the manners and morals of its citizens. It is no accident that Ivan the Terrible was one of Stalin’s favourite models, that Kutuzov’s character was upheld as an ideal in 1941, or that Soviet schoolchildren are taught to regard Lermontov’s Borodino as the quintessence of patriotism. The exploration of the past provides unexpected ways to understanding today’s Muscovite. Heredity must count for something.


‘A miracle! A small town, scarcely known before the fourteenth century, long called from contempt for its insignificance “Village Kutchkovo”, raised its head, and saved the fatherland. Honour and glory to Moscow!’ – Nicholas Karamzin.


Yuri Dolgoruky, Prince of ‘Suzdalia’,* had other huntingcamps and fortified settlements (‘Kremlins’) as well as the one he built in AD 1147–56 where the rivers Neglinnaya and Moskva meet. It was not long before this conveniently placed township between Rostov and Vladimir, a link to the rivers Volga and Oka, acquired a pre-eminent place among them. The Moskva River was the trade artery of medieval Russia. Between 1237 and 1241, however, Moscow’s evolution was arrested when Khan Baty of the Golden Horde sacked the town, burnt the modest wooden Kremlin, and laid down the rules of survival for all the princes of old ‘Rus’, of Kiev, Suzdal, Vladimir, Tver, Novgorod: a pilgrimage of homage to his tents thousands of miles away on the lower Volga at Saray, or even to the Great Khan at Karakorum in Mongolia; the right to rule under his patent auctioned off to the highest bidder; annual tribute in money and recruits. The Khan of Kipchak was Moscow’s first Tsar, and so called by the Russians. ‘Divide and rule’ was his precept. Moscow’s princes were but the harassed agents of exceptionally greedy principals, whose totalitarian society and empire was to provide their political, fiscal, and military education. It was the wily Ivan I (1325–41)* who knew the rules of this ‘glib and oily art’ so well that he outdistanced his rivals of Tver, Novgorod, or Suzdal, in Karl Marx’s words, as ‘the Tartar’s hangman, sycophant and slave in chief’. He even married the Khan’s sister. In 1328 Ivan I received the Khan’s patent (yarlyk) as Great Prince of Vladimir, first amongst his peers by Tartar appointment, and their chosen bulwark against the menace of Lithuania. The Khan endorsed Ivan’s will leaving all his patrimony to his sons, and issued the yarlyk to his son Semen as Great Prince of Vladimir, an unprecedented act.


Shaking off the Khans, their tribute, and the odious task of being their toadying fiscal inquisitor took another hundred and forty years. Under Dmitry Donskoy, victor of the battle of Kulikovo over Khan Mamai and the Horde (1380), the principality of Moscow became that of Vladimir and Moscow. The Golden Horde, after their ‘Time of Troubles’ in the 1350s, had been effectively dispersed by Timurlane in 1389–95, but it took nearly another century before the Moscow Princes dared to default finally with the tribute (1480). Only after 1472 did Ivan III (1462–1505), emboldened by his marriage to the obese heiress Sophia of the Byzantine Paleologues, adopt the bicephalous eagle for his arms. Only after 1486 did the ruler’s title ring sonorously with the word ‘Autocrat’ of all the Russias. It had been an education of nearly three centuries in deceit, humiliation, treachery to one’s own brothers, and collaborationist book-keeping under the eye of Mongol inspectors in the heart of their own Kremlin. These lessons fashioned the character of Moscow and her rulers for all time.


Ivan Kalita’s Kremlin was destroyed in 1365 by fire. It was, of course, built of wood. Fire proved a worse enemy to Moscow over the centuries than the sword. She might be ravished by the Crimean Tartars, Poles, Cossacks, or the French; and finally in 1941 Germans might seek to defile her. But it was fire that swept Moscow away a score of times. Amongst the worse years were 1547, 1571, 1595, 1612, 1701, 1712 and 1737. Moscow was more grandly reborn each time, the phoenix of the world’s great cities. This act of faith was made possible because of the Tsar’s total power over bodies, souls and goods of his subjects, not only as ruler but actual proprietor of his domain. The first two stone cathedrals in the Kremlin (1326), those of the Assumption and the Archangel Michael, were both built in the fourteenth century. The Kremlin’s famous white stone walls twice saw off the Lithuanians; they were begun in 1367. Ivan the Terrible, after the holocaust of 1547, proved himself a mighty builder. Ukazes decreed that open spaces should be left between courtyards and households, and between the Kremlin and the adjoining settlements so that – as Lord Carlisle noted in 1688 – the hellish flames should consume themselves and not buildings. Brick or stone building was encouraged. It was a merchant who built Moscow’s first domestic stone house in 1471. The Kremlin’s walls were of white limestone by the end of the fourteenth century, then brick, as we see them today. The main settlement, the Kitaigorod, east of the Kremlin, was by 1534–38 endowed with massive stone walls along which a carriage and pair could drive. Tsar Alexis Mikhailovitch (1645–1676) gave Moscow her first stone bridge in 1643, that endured until 1819. Peter the Great did endanger the principle when he gave exclusivity to his new city on the Neva to have stone and brick materials, leaving a problem for the Empress Anne when she tried to restore Moscow in the 1730s. In fact, in the fire of 1712 more than 3,000 houses and 500 shops were destroyed, 2,700 people burnt, and a quarter of the city charred to ashes. (Peter did, however, order streets to be straight, seeking a symmetry unknown to medieval Moscow, whose crooked lanes are realistically reproduced in Vasnetsov’s paintings.) Despite the creation yet again of a new city after the great fire of 1812, it was calculated in 1860 that some 9,800 houses out of 14,900 were still in wood.


White stone and brick instead of wood might have defeated the fires which God sent to chastise his sinners. But it was remarkable how, after every fire, where there had been one church before, two would replace it. The proverb indeed said that Moscow had ‘forty times forty’ churches. Whole districts boasted of a fortified convent, monastery or major church as its most beautiful landmark: the Andronikov on the Yauza (1359), the Simonov (‘the sentinel of the city’, 1405), the Rojdestvensky (1501–5), or those jewels of the Orthodox tiara saved for today’s tourist, the Novo-Dyevichy Convent (1524) and the Donskoy Monastery (1591). Here were tangible proofs of the artistic intelligence and adaptive genius of Moscow’s architects, masons and icon-painters, fusing the styles of Pskov and Vladimir with those of Byzantium or Renaissance Italy, later creating Moscow’s own enchanting version of Baroque, and later still, of Russian Gothic. It is noteworthy that the amazing, mysterious and triumphalist St Basil (1555–60), built to Ivan the Terrible’s orders and celebrating his conquest of Kazan, was the work of Russian architects.


The Russian Orthodox Church had greatly prospered under the Khans, exempt from the tribute if it prayed for them and their families, and subject itself to the need for a yarlyk. The Metropolitans, formerly of Kiev and Vladimir, had since 1328 chosen the Prince of Moscow as the protector who would finesse the Khans or Tartars, either in battle (as at Kulikovo) or in diplomacy, more adroitly than other princes of ancient Russia, and grant them substantial estates. They ratified his power as God-given and without appeal.


The cross of orthodoxy in Ivan the Great’s bell tower, so proudly standing above that of lesser churches, reminded Muscovites that they were living under a totalitarian theocracy. Church land – after the overthrow of the Khans – required the Tsar’s confirmation, though administered by a Metropolitan or Abbot. Basil III had deposed a Metropolitan in 1521. There was no Patriarch until 1589. Peter the Great abolished the office. In the seventeenth century the inevitable happened: an outstanding Patriarch (Nikon, 1605–1681) tried to promote reforms of ritual and doctrine which led to dissidence, schism, and social disorder intolerable even for his erstwhile protector, the Tsar Alexis Mikhailovitch. The Tsar broke the Patriarch. Henceforth ‘Russia no longer had a Church; it had a religion of state’.* Any hope, therefore, that the Tsar’s servants and slaves might have had that the church would – as in Europe – balance the power of the ruler were pure fantasy. As an early theologian, Joseph of Volok, wrote, ‘In his mortal form the Tsar resembles all men, but in his power he is like unto Almighty God.’†


The Orthodox ritual did provide key concepts that might make the people’s life a little more tolerable. The Churches themselves were the most beautiful places which they could enter and use as of right. The doctrine of resignation to this world’s evils was obviously attractive; that of humility suited a totalitarian society; so did acceptance of suffering. The Church’s leaders might even influence the rulers to soften individuals’ fates. Monasteries and convents were retreats, however spartan, from the troubles of daily life. And an important ingredient of the Faith was the fanatic belief that Moscow had become God’s holiest city after the fall of Constantinople in 1453, arrogant bearer of the burden of the Third Rome.


Where fire, Tartars and invaders failed, Stalin and his metro-builders in the thirties (and fifties) succeeded. For they swept away much of medieval Moscow, including the famous towers and chapel protecting the holy icon of the Iverian Mother of God at the entrance to the Red Square (to be replaced by Lenin in his Pantheon) and the massive presence of the Cathedral of the Redeemer, built after 1812 to thank God for delivering Moscow from the French, which had dominated Moscow’s skyline for over a century.


After Ivan the Terrible’s conquest of Kazan (1553), of Astrakhan, and of Siberia, his writ ran over a staggering 5.4 million kilometres, whereas his grandfather, Ivan III, in the 1460s had only controlled 430,000. The Tsars took good care to monopolize all profitable raw materials, and trade in them. (Moscow’s ‘merchants’ were more like Imperial factors than Elizabethan adventurers, in contractual partnership with their Sovereign.) The Tsar had mastered every possible element in society that might stand against his will, militarily and economically. As a result there was a reservoir of labour to build Moscow, and foreign or native architects were given resources beyond their dreams to beautify the Kremlin and Moscow. From Yuri Dolgoruky’s one-hectare Kremlin in 1156, Moscow grew to cover an area of 17,685 hectares, housing 1.6 million inhabitants by 1917.


The Tsars took care that their praetorian guard, whether Ivan the Terrible’s fiendish servants (the opritchniki) or Alexis Mikhailovitch’s musketeers (streltsy), were within easy riding distance of the Kremlin, in barracks occupying whole quarters of Moscow. (One should not forget that in the sixteenth and seventeenth centuries Moscow was the headquarters of a standing army of 65,000 men, where in Europe 18,500 men, mustered once by the Holy Roman Emperor against the Turks (1467), was considered a prodigy.) Such was the origin of the Konyushennaya (‘equerries’) district, or opposite the Kremlin over the river, of the Zamoskvorechiye. Their captains on a grace and favour basis were well looked after. As a clerkly caste – in effect the Tsar’s bureaucracy – expanded with the growth of the Tsardom, so they, too, received land on an appropriate scale (the pomestiye) near the Kremlin.


Such hired men earned notorious reputations, especially under Ivan the Terrible. The name of Maliuta-Skuratov, in every sense his chief hatchet-man, can still conjure up a frisson in Russia.


Beyond these estates of the Tsars’ servants, whose stone walls (in the case of the richest) encompassed spacious orchards, falconries, cattle-byres, and carp-ponds, crisscrossing Moscow’s twenty or more rivers and streams, there stretched the slobodi, the trading and craftsmens’ settlements, and the home in future of Moscow’s merchants. There market-gardens and grazing-fields were attached to the two-storey houses of richer boyars and merchants, to provide a necessary cottage economy and the Tsar’s vegetables and fruit. Initially these had been the camps of traders from Novgorod, Tver, Smolensk, but they were expanded by function: the armourers’ district (bronnaya), the weavers (khamovniki). In the seventeenth century an opulent ghetto sprang up to quarantine fortune-hunting foreigners whose technical skills were unavoidably needed, whether to set a Jacobean clocktower athwart the existing Spasskoye Gate into Red Square (made by one Christopher Galloway in 1624–5) or to teach courtiers how to act Molière and Racine in a makeshift theatre hall. This was the Nemetskaya sloboda (1652), whose German and Swiss ladies were to provide sexual solace for Peter the Great in his salad days.


Conditions beyond the Kremlin were primitive. Distinguished foreigners noted how log rafts had to be flung as bridges over the mud seas that passed for streets; how cows grazed everywhere in summer; how most of the wooden cottages had no glass windows; how poor families all slept on top of their single stove. And what of the narod, the ‘black’ people, servants and slaves, ants milling around the Red Square outside the Kremlin, over the hundreds of booths, stalls, shops, and wharves along the River Moskva? The heart of popular Moscow adjoined the Kremlin in an epidemic-prone, unsalubrious, and stench-laden quarter (the Zaryad), redolent of ‘perfumed Russian leather, spirituous liquors, sour beer, cabbages, grease of Cossacks’ boots, . . . and of musk, and ambergris’, whose undrained cesspits gave rise to ‘mephitic air’.* Apart from breeding plagues, this bazaar-land could easily spawn rioting crowds and conceal criminals.


The Red Square† was their agora. There, until Peter the Great, they had their trading booths. But there also their bodies might be impaled, knouted, broken on the wheel, or simply quartered, and from the torturers’ tower‡ along the Kremlin wall, they could hear the screams and groans of suspects. There stalked rumour and gossip. (Had Tsar Boris Godunov really murdered the Tsarevitch Dmitry at Uglitch?) There they heard the Tsar’s decrees, read out by his ever interfering ‘pristavi’ or bureaucrats. However cruel, corrupt, or even evil their Autocrat might be, his power had been vested in him, without appeal, by God. Occasionally, the latter would allow His people a brief and bloody say – for example, during the Salt or Copper riots (1662), or when Moscow’s women took arms to kill Poles. Sometimes the people helped disaffected ruling clans to make history by killing a false Pretender, by acclaiming in a ‘popular’ election Boris Godunov or the new Romanov Tsar preselected for them by the boyars, or by defenestrating unpopular boyars such as the Naryshkins. But always the narod would be scattered back into its ant-heap. The Tsar, abetted by his familiars, would resume his divine and proprietory rule, taking care to satiate his slaves with such bread and gory circuses as they enjoyed. Executions, especially those of such great threats to the Sovereign as Stenka Razin and Pugachev, were exemplary. Reigns of terror were familiar to Muscovites.


‘Progress’, in its Victorian meaning, had much to overcome in Moscow. Ivan the Terrible’s printers in the 1560s were accused of witchcraft, and despite his protection had to flee to Latvia to escape burning. The founder of the Russian language, Lomonosov, and his contemporary Kantemir, learnt their Greek and Latin at a Kiev-inspired seminary founded in Moscow only in the 1680s. The Vedomosti, Russia’s first newspaper, did not appear until 1703. Even trade had to overcome the medieval legacy of no less than sixteen customs’ barriers into Moscow. They were still there in the 1730s, and the principle was only abolished in 1753. Moscow had no geodesic plan until 1739, and this was the first shaky attempt to plan Moscow’s future. Her first bank (which failed) was started only in 1753, under the Empress Anne. The first permanent attempt at the art of town planning came under Catherine the Great’s Commission in 1775, established for both capitals. Moscow University was founded in 1755–7, but on the initiative of a private individual (I. I. Shuvalov). The Renaissance, indeed, came late to Moscow.


In the eighteenth century Moscow suffered the greatest blow to her pride in all her history. She had to absorb the painful and violent upheaval caused in 1703 by Peter the Great’s creation of his northern capital, St Petersburg. Though Peter had ‘cut his window into Europe’ on the Baltic, though by smashing the Swedish threat he had assured his country its future as the Russian Empire and not as a Muscovite Tsardom, this stupendous act had an unexpected result. The Court moved in 1712, and Russia henceforth would enjoy two capitals: Moscow, the legatee of her medieval and Asiatic history, would still be witness to the anointing of Tsars in the Kremlin Cathedral, but – as Dostoevsky put it – ‘to the overwhelming majority of the Russian people the significance of Petersburg is confined to the fact that the Tsar resides there.’ Pushkin caught the new relationship:




Old Moscow’s paled before this other


metropolis: it’s just the same


as when a widowed Empress Mother


bows to a young Tsaritsa’s claim.*





The contrast between the two capitals fascinated and often obsessed Russia’s greatest writers, whose golden age was beginning: Pushkin, Lermontov, Herzen, Byelinsky, Gogol. From the 1800s onwards, the shifts in the relationship between Moscow and a courtly Petersburg are often best captured in their pages. Herzen, Russia’s most inspired polemicist and a brilliant ‘political’ journalist of the nineteenth century, pointed out that Peter the Great’s humiliation of Moscow in the 1700s had been turned into triumph for her by Napoleon, an unexpected saviour. By occupying Russia’s holiest shrine, namely the Kremlin, and by being forced to leave Moscow in a catastrophic retreat, Napoleon had again made of Moscow – in the century of nationalism – the national capital of Russia. And Herzen continued:




In the reign of Catherine, the court and the Guards really did include all that was cultured in Russia: and this continued more or less until 1812. Since then Russian society has taken terrific strides; the war evoked consciousness, and consciousness evoked the Fourteenth of December.† Society was divided in two from within; it was not the best part that remained on the side of the Court; some were estranged by the executions and savage punishments, others by the new tone prevailing. Alexander had carried on the cultural traditions of the reign of Catherine: under Nicholas the worldly aristocratic tone was replaced by one of dry formality and insolent despotism on the one hand, and absolute servility on the other – a blend of the abrupt and boorish manner of Napoleon with the soullessness of bureaucracy. A new society rapidly developed, the centre of which was in Moscow.*





This ‘new society’ chose as its battlefield Moscow’s literary salons, and University platforms. There, ‘political questions being impossible, literary ones became the problem of life’. Thinly disguised as a literary-historical debate, the war of ideas between the ‘Westerners’ and the Slavophiles raged. The ‘Westerners’, Byelinsky and Herzen in the lead, could quote Pushkin’s Voltairean gibe at Moscow’s traditions: ‘How sick and tired I am of Moscow and its Tartar non-entity!’.† They and their élite sought to imbibe the intoxicating draughts of Western thought, ‘forcing itself towards freedom, the idea of intellectual independence, and the struggle for it’. Their case was weakened by having to accept that Peter’s window allowed much in from the West that was – at least in the eyes of Petersburg authorities – immoral, subversive, or both. Where to draw the line, about those Jacobin nonsenses of 1789, 1830, and 1848?


To the Slavophiles, Moscow represented romantic values of piety and of purity, national honour, and the ‘imperishable bodies’ of Moscow’s saints in the Kremlin. The Kremlin became a fashionable reminder to them of their forefathers’ belief in Providence which had designated Russia as the ‘chosen instrument of her inscrutable designs’. ‘Surrounded here by the holiness of Russia,’ – ‘inexpressibly tranquil’ – they only heard ‘the call of silver-tongued bells’, and the ‘language of heaven floating through the skies’.‡ In his time, Dostoevsky was to revive this nostalgia into the Slavic Gospel of gesta Dei per Russos. Firstly, he rejected the ‘Tartar hypothesis’ that Moscow represented only brutal and barbaric Asiatic creeds. Secondly, he argued that the Russians had a brotherly love of all peoples, and an urge to render universal service to humanity. (Dostoevsky in the same paragraph defined ‘humanity’ to include only the Aryan races.) This was ‘the Russian idea’, which ‘closer intercourse with Europe’ might corrupt; a concept natural to Muscovites, who had always resented and isolated foreigners. And Dostoevsky concluded, ‘This is how I understand the Russian mission in its ideal . . . the unification of the whole of Slavdom, so to speak, under Russia’s wing.’* Not, he hastened to add, for the sake of usurpation but for spiritual regeneration. For him, Moscow, ‘this centre of the great Russians, is designed to live long . . . and has not been the third Rome’, but the fifteenth-century prophecy that ‘there shall be no fourth Rome’ must be fulfilled. God’s truth was only fully preserved in Orthodoxy.


All this was stuff too heady for the general run of Moscow society, in Catherine the Great’s phrase, the ‘seat of sloth’, a society more interested in breakfast, dinner and tea, namedays and balls, than in dangerous post-Decembrist controversies. Tolstoy’s Count Rostov, fussing about Bagration’s dinner-party at the English Club, epitomizes his kind. In Byelinsky’s phrase, the essence of Moscow was comfortable ‘patriarchal domesticity’, dissected forever by Griboyedov in Woe from Wit. This was a pritchudlivy gorod, a town of gossipy, eccentric and whimsical landowners whose idleness was supported by substantial wealth, innumerable servants and serfs.† They had a certain insouciance vis à vis new men in St Petersburg rising painfully up the Petrine rungs. (Indeed, great men there usually took good care to have a palace and a country estate or two in and around Moscow; examples included the Sheremetyevs, Orlovs and Potemkin.) In Moscow you would be asked what you did; in the northern capital, where you served. Your Moscow squire thought of himself as open to debate, even-tempered, careless of time, hospitable. He belonged to a society of independent people. His Petersburg counterpart would be worried as to his prospects of promotion, careful not to criticize his superiors, would practise an ironic air to mask disappointment and the blows of fortune. No wonder the former had a ruddy glow, the latter – according to Byelinsky – an unfortunate ‘haemorrhoidal pallor’.* St Petersburg was the GHQ of an Empire; Moscow had now become only its unmilitary and somewhat dishevelled relation, sporting long hair, civilian moustaches and laughable costumes.


It was easy for Herzen and Byelinsky, both liberals, ‘Westerners’, haters of the autocracy in Petersburg, to endow their capital with the monopoly of patriotic virtues. ‘Moscow, apparently so drowsy and apathetic, so absorbed in scandal and piety, weddings, and nothing at all, always wakes up when it is necessary, and is equal to the occasion when a storm breaks over Russia. In 1612 she was joined in blood-stained nuptials with Russia, and their union was welded in fire in 1812.’† This heroic myth of Moscow, the true bride of Russia, was further propagated by Gogol who argued that whilst Russia was necessary to St Petersburg, Moscow was necessary to Russia. Byelinsky had the last word by reminding his readers that this judgement, though witty, was untrue: Russia, though rooted in the legacy of Muscovy’s Tsardom, henceforth could not escape the constant impact of innovative ideas through Peter’s window. Peter’s new imperialism, extended so ruthlessly by Catherine, Alexander I and Nicholas I, gave both capitals the necessary security to develop their different ways.


In a gallery of Muscovite types, the leading place has obviously been given to Tsar and Patriarch and their clerks and slaves, inevitably resembling the cast-list of an opera about medieval Moscow by Mussorgsky or Glinka. To enrich the flavour of medieval Muscovy, one could throw in the extras from Pushkin’s play Boris Godunov: ‘The People, Boyars, a Wicked Monk, Abbot of the Chudov Monastery, two courtiers, Hostess, two officers, the Czarevna’s Nurse, a Poet, a Cavalier, Serving-women, Russian, Polish and German troops, a Saintly Idiot, a Beggar, a Guard, three Soldiers’. There is a certain familiarity, too, about the eighteenth- and nineteenth-century landowners, the freedom-thirsting students or the literary intelligentsia, so well-known to us through Russian literature.


It is time, however, to salute an order of mankind also at the heart of Moscow: the order of the merchant. After all, the very survival of the city had once depended on the trade routes meeting there from all corners of Russia, Asia and the south, and linking the Baltic to the Caspian Sea. Yesterday’s prince today might find himself in trade, or be tied to a merchant’s daughter as his wife and financial salvation. As the perceptive J.G. Kohl observed in the 1840s, Moscow ‘is so decidedly first’ in respect of manufacturing that ‘no other city in the Empire can be compared with it’. Twenty thousand inhabitants of Moscow lived by commerce and industry then. And so Moscow had ‘an important voice in the administration’, a voice ‘seldom loud’ but ‘listened to, and respected’. In fact, Petersburg would never dare appoint a German to be Moscow’s Governor-General, only a Russian, ‘because Moscow would endure no other’.*
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1 The Kremlin

2 Cathedral of the Assumption

3 Granovitaya Chamber

4 The Treasury.

5 The Red Square

6 The Iverian Mother of God's

Chapel (now destroyed)

7 St Basil's Cathedral

8 The Church of the Trinity

9 The Novo Dyevichy Convent
10 St Dimitry Donskoy.
11 The English Club
12 Moscow University (original buildings)
13 Moscow University (new campus)

14 The Sparrow Hills

15 The Sukharev Tower (now destroyed)
16 The Petrovsky Theatre

17 The Moscow Theatre (now the Bolshoi)
18 The Moscow Art Theatre

19 The Tretyakov Gallery
20 The Petrovsky Palace
21 Otradnoye

22 Kuskovo

23 Ostankino

24 Tsaritsyno

25 The Troisko-Sergievo Monastery
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